ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF 
HABEAS CORPUS, AS THE PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE 
ESTABLISHED DEFENDANT WAS DENIED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO 
HA VE THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF LEGAL COUNSEL WITH RESPECT TO 
AN INSANITY DEFENSE. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The petitoner, Billy Ray Llyod, Jr. was indicted in Harrison County for crimes he 

allegedly committed on March 25, 2013. [A.R. p. 59-60J. With the assistance of his defense 

attorney, Mr. Llyod entred into a Plea Agrrement with the state in Harrison County Circuit Court 

Felony case No. 13-F-98-3 [A.R. p. 61-64J, in accordance with the Plea Agreement Mr. Llyod 

pleaded guilty to two Counts set forth in the Indictment [A.R. p. 65-66], his guilty pleas were then 

accepted by the circuit court [A.R. p. 234-240J, and Mr. Llyod was then sentenced for his 

convictions on those two Counts and commited to prison to serve his sentences. [A.R. p. 79-86]. 

On May 5, 2015, Mr. Llyod submitted a pro se Petiton and filed an application for appointed 

counsel to represent him on his Petiton for post-conviction habeas coprus relief, and the judge 

had the Petiton filed and appointed counsel to represent Mr. Llyod on May 8, 2015, thereby 

commencing Harrsion County Circuit Court Civil Action No. 15-C-191-3. [A.R. p. 30-39]. 

Counsel for the then Respondent-Warden, Marvin C. Plumley of the Huttonsville Correctional 

Center, filed the Respondent's Answer to Mr. Llyod's pro se Petiton [A.R. p. 40-42], Mr. Lyyod, 

with the assistance of counsel, filed an Amended Petiton and "Losh List" [A.R. p. 43-53], and 

the repondent's counsel filed the Repondent's Annswer to the Petitoner's Amended Petiton. [A.R. 

p. 55-58]. Following the one omnibus hearing held in the matter on December 10, 2015, but 

before the circuit court issued a decison in the matter, Mr. Llyod was transferred to Mount Olive 
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Correctional Comple and the custody Warden, David Ballard, and upon motion of Mr. Llyod's 

counsel, the circuit court substituted David Ballard, Warden of Mount Olive, for Marvin C. 

Plumley, Warden of Huttonsville Correctional Center, as the named Respondent in the matter. 

[A.R. p. 16-18]. On November 18,2016, the circuit court entred its "Order Denying Petiton For 

Writ Of Habeas Corpus" in Civil Action No. 15-C-191-3, but it incorrectly named Warden 

Plumley as the Respondent-warden, and after Mr. Llyod's couinsel brought the error to the 

court's attention, the court entered its "Amended Order Denying Petiton For Writ Of Habeas 

Corpus" on December 5,2016. [A.R. p. 5-15J. On December 15,2016, Mr. Llyod, by counsel, 

timely filed with this Court his Notice of Appeal from the circuit court's denial of habeas corpus 

relief. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The circuit court erred in failing to find that Mr. Llyod was denied his constitutional right 

to the effective assistance of legal counsel in the underlying criminal case, because despite clear 

indications that Mr. Llyod had a bona fide insanity defense to the crimes charged, his defense 

attorney conducted no investigation whatsoever to support an insanity defense; did not advise 

Mr. Llyod at all with respect to an insanity defense, and in fact, the attorney himself had no 

understanding what an insanity defense even entailed under West Virginia law; and the attorney 

allowed Mr. Llyod to plead guilty to crimes he may not be legally responsible for without having 

been advised of his bona fide insanity defense, when if Mr. Llyod been properly advised of his 

insanity defense by competent legal counsel, he would not have pleaded guilty to any crime 

charged, and would have insisted on going to trial, putting the state to its burden to prove beyond 

a reasonable doubt that he was sane at the time he allegedly committed the crimes charged. 
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ST ATE MENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Because the principle issues in this case have been authoritatively decided in previous 

decisions by the Court, and because the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the 

brief and the Court's decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument, oral 

argument under R.A.P. 18(a) is not necessary unless the Court determines that other issues 

arising upon the record should be addressed. If the Court determines that oral argument is 

necessary, this case is appropriate for a Rule 19 argument and disposition by memorandum 

decision. 

3 




ARGUMENT 

1. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING AMENDED PETITION FOR WRIT OF 
HABEAS CORPUS, AS THE PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE 
ESTABLISHED DEFENDANT WAS DENIED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO 
HAVE THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF LEGAL COUNSEL WITH RESPECT TO 
AN INSANITY DEFENSE. 

"In reviewing challenges to the findings and conclusions ofthe circuit court in 

a habeas corpus action, we apply a three-prong standard of review. We review the final order and 

the ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard; the underlying factual findings 

under a clearly erroneous standard; and questions of law are subject to a de novo review." 

Syllabus point 1, Mathena v. Haines, 219 W.Va. 417, 633 S.E.2d 771 (2006). See also, Syl. Pt. 

1, State ex reI. Franklin v. McBride, 226 W.Va. 375, 701 S.E.2d 97 (2009); Ballard v. 

Ferguson, 751 S.E.2d 716, 719, 232 W.Va. 196 (2013) ("Findings of fact made by a trial court 

in a post-conviction habeas corpus proceeding will not be set aside or reversed on appeal by this 

Court unless such findings are clearly wrong." (quoting Syl. pt. 1, State ex reI. Postelwaite v. 

Bechtold, 158 W.Va. 479, 212 S.E.2d 69 (1975». 

In his original pro se Petition Under W Va. Code § 53-4A-J for Writ ofHabeas Corpus 

[A.R. 30-39 ], his Amended Petitionfor Post-Conviction Writ ofHabeas Corpus [A.R. 43-49], 

and his Checklist ofGrounds for Post-Conviction Habeas Corpus Reliefper Losh v. McKenzie, 

166 W.Va. 762,277 S.E.2d 606 (W.Va., 1981) ("Losh List"). [A.R. 50-53], Mr. Llyod asserts 

that he was not competent at the time of the offenses charged (Losh List No's 7 and 39), that 

there is a bona fide question as to his actual guilt (Losh List No.49), that defense counsel neither 

conducted a preliminary hearing nor took an appeal on his behalf (Losh List No.'s 25 and 13, 
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respectively) , that Mr. Llyod's guilty pleas were involuntary (Losh List No.6) and that he 

received a severer sentence than expected (Losh List No. 50), all because counsel did not provide 

Mr. Llyod with effective assistance of counsel (Losh List No. 21; Amended Petition). 

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article III, § 14 of the West 

Virginia Constitution not only assure the "assistance of counsel" to a defendant in a criminal 

proceeding, but also assure that such a defendant receive competent and effective assistance of 

counsel. State ex rei. Strogen v. Trent, 196 W.Va. 148, 152, 469 S.E.2d 7, 11 (1996); See 

also, Cole v. White, 180 W.Va. 393, 395, 376 S.E.2d 599, 601 (1988). In the West Virginia 

courts, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are to be governed by the two-pronged test 

established in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984): 

(1) counsel's performance was deficient under an objective standard of reasonableness; and (2) 

there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the 

proceedings would have been different. State ex rei. Vernatter v. Warden, W. Va. Penitentiary, 

207 W.Va. 11,528 S.E.2d 207, 213 (1999) (quoting Syi. Pt. 5 inState v. Miller, 194 W.Va. 

3,459 S.E.2d 114 (1995) which cites Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 

80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)). 

In reviewing counsel's performance under the first prong of the Miller/Strickland test, 

courts must apply an objective standard and determine whether, in light of all the circumstances, 

the identified acts or omissions were outside the broad range of professionally competent 

assistance while at the same time refraining from engaging in hindsight or second-guessing of 

defense counsel's strategic decisions. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690. Thus, a reviewing court asks 

whether a reasonable la~er would have acted, under the circumstances, as defense counsel 

acted in the case at issue. Miller, supra, at Syl. Pt. 6. 
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The second or "prejudice" requirement of the Strickland/Miller test looks to whether counsel's 
deficient performance adversely effected the outcome in a given case. A modified prejudice 
standard applies in cases where a conviction rests upon a plea of guilty. In this circumstances the 
prejudice element "focuses on whether counsel's constitutionally ineffective performance 
affected the outcome of the plea process. In other words, in order to satisfy the 'prejudice' 
requirement, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's 
errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. "Hill v. 
Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59, 106 S.Ct. 366,370, 88 L.Ed.2d 203 (1985). Under Hill, "'[p]rejudice' 
is a reasonable probability that the defendant would have insisted on going to trial had he not 
received the ineffective Clssistance, and a 'reasonable probability' is 'a probability sufficient to 
undermine confidence in the outcome.'" Ostrander v. Green, 46 F.3d 347, 355 (4th Cir.1995) 
(quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2068), overruled on other grounds by O'Dell v. 
Netherland, 95 F.3d 1214 (4th Cir.1996). While Hill's prejudice requirement focuses on a 
subjective question, "the answer to that question must be reached through an objective 
analysis." Hooper v. Garraghtv. 845 F.2d 471, 475 (4th Cir.), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 843, 109 
S.Ct. 117, 102 L.Ed.2d 91 (1988). 

State ex rei. Vernatter v. Warden, W. Va. Penitentiary, 207 W.Va. 11,528 S.E.2d 207, 
214 (1999). 

A guilty plea is valid only if it represents a knowing and voluntary choice among 

alternatives; therefore, a client's expressed intent to plead guilty does not relieve counsel of their 

duty to investigate possible defenses and advise the defendant so he can make an informed 

decision. See, Memorandum Decision No. 12-1285, p. 8, pt. 13, Kevin E. E. v. Seifert, (W.Va., 

2013) (citing Savino v. Murray, 82 F.3d 593, 599 (4th Cir. 1996) and State ex rei. Vernatter v. 

Warden, 207 W.Va. 11,528 S.E.2d 207 (1999)). "Courts have found no difficulty finding 

ineffective assistance of counsel where an attorney neither conducted a reasonable investigation, 

nor demonstrated a strategic reason of failing to do so." State ex rei. Vernatter v. Warden, 

supra, 528 S.E.23d 207 at 214 (quoting State ex rei. Daniel v. Legursky, 195 W.Va. 314, 320, 

465 S.E.2d 416, 422 (1995)). 

Under West Virginia law, if a defendant charged with a crime raises the affirmative 

defense of not guilty by reason of insanity and the defendant or the state introduces any evidence 

at trial which raises any doubt as to whether the defendant was sane at the time he committed the 
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alleged offense, the burden then is upon the state to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the 

defendant was sane at the time he committed the alleged offense. Syllabus Point 3, State v. 

Daggett, 167 W.Va. 411,280 S.E.2d 545 (1981). When a defendant in a criminal case raises the 

issue of insanity, the test of his responsibility for his act is whether, at the time of the 

commission of the act, it was the result of a mental disease or defect causing the accused to lack 

the capacity either to appreciate the wrongfulness ofhis act or to conform his act to the 

requirements of the law, and it is error for the trial court to give an instruction on the issue of 

insanity which imposes a different test or which is not governed by the evidence presented in the 

case. Syllabus Point 2, State v. Myers, 159 W.Va. 353,222 S.E.2d 300 (1976). Thus, because 

sanity at the time of an offense entails both that the accused appreciated that what he was doing 

at the time of the offense was wrong and that he was at the time able to conform his conduct to 

the requirements of the law, even if the evidence shows that the defendant did know that what he 

was doing was wrong, if any evidence is introduced raising a doubt as the whether the defendant 

was unable to conform his conduct so that it was lawful, the state will have the burden to prove 

beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant could have conformed his conduct to the 

requirements of the law. In this case, there is no dispute that the circuit court was correct in 

finding that at the time of the crime Mr. Llyod had an awareness that what he was doing was 

wrongful. [A.R. p. 10-11; p.150 (lines 10-11); p. 225 (lines 17-21)]. However, like Mr. Llyod's 

incompetent defense attorney failed to do throughout the course of his representation of Mr. 

Llyod, at no time during Mr. Llyod's plea hearing did the circuit court fully apply Syllabus Point 

2 in State v. Meyers, supra, and inquire of Mr. Llyod whether at the time of the crime he was 

able to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law, even though Mr. Llyod informed the 

court at the plea hearing that at the time ofthe crime he was under the influence of a powerful 
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psychoactive substance commonly known as "bath salts" and couldn't really remember all that 

happened during the incident, and even though Mr. Llyod also infom1ed the court that he was 

bipolar. [A.R. p. 15 (lines 1-15); p. 153 (lines 14-19)]. 

The circuit court also failed to fully apply Syllabus Point 2 in State v. Meyers, supra in 

denying Mr. Llyod's petition for post-conviction habeas corpus relief on the grounds that counsel 

was ineffective with respect to Mr. Llyod's insanity defense, and the court made no findings at 

all regarding evidence that, even though Mr. Llyod knew what he was doing was wrong, as a 

result of a mental disease or defect, at the time of the crime Mr. Llyod could not conform his 

conduct to the requirements of the law. [A.R. p. 150]. This is the basis for the assignment of 

error in Mr. Llyod's appeal to this Court: The preponderance of the evidence before the circuit 

court establishes that Mr. Llyod's counsel was woefully ineffective under both prongs of the 

Miller/Strickland test as modified given Mr. Llyod's guilty pleas per State ex reI. Vernatter v. 

Warden, W. Va. Penitentiary, supra, because: (a) despite clear indications that Mr. Llyod 

suffered from a mental disease or defect making him unable to conform his conduct to the 

requirements of the law at the time of the crime, defense counsel conducted no investigation 

whatsoever with respect to a mental health defense and gave no advice to Mr. Llyod with respect 

to any mental health defense, and incompetently allowed his client to plead guilty to crimes in 

complete ignorance of an insanity defense; and (b) had Mr. Llyod's defense counsel competently 

investigated and advised Mr. Llyod with respect to his insanity defense, there is a reasonable 

probability that Mr. Llyod would not have pleaded guilty to any crime, and that Mr. Llyod would 

have insisted on going to trial raising insanity at the time of the crime as an affirmative defense 

per Syllabus Point 2 in State v. Meyers, supra, thereby putting the state to its burden, per State v. 

Daggett, supra, to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Llyod was sane at the time of the 
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crime - i.e., prove beyond a reasonable doubt that even though he knew what he was doing was 

wrong, Mr. Llyod couldn't stop himself - he could not conform his conduct to the requirements 

of the law. 

The preponderance of the evidence before the circuit court establishes that at the outset of 

his representation ofMr. Llyod through the course of the plea hearing, Mr. Llyod's defense 

counsel had clear indications that his client may not have been sane at the time of the crime. 

According to the victim herself, at the time of the crime, Mr. Llyod, a person the victim knew 

fairly well, was not acting at all like himself and appeared to be "under the influence of 

something," and though he had never been violent prior to that night, he was strangely repeatedly 

telling the victim "I love you" while "he was just going wild." [A.R. p. 103-112, 114]. Any 

objectively reasonable defense attorney should have been aware of these facts from the 

3/25/2013 CAD Incident Report and the victim's recorded statement that same day, and Mr. 

Llyod's defense attorney believes he was aware of these facts. [A.R. p. 179 (line 19) - p. 192 

(line 4)]. 

Just knowing these facts from CAD Incident Report and the victim's recorded statement 

triggered the clear duty of Mr. Llyod's defense counsel to further investigate possible mental 

health defenses for Mr. Llyod. State ex rei. Vernatter v. Warden, supra, 528 S.E.2d 207 at 214 

(citing United States v. KaUfman, 109 F.3d 186, 190 (3rd Cir. 1997) and Becton v. Barnett, 920 

F.2d 1190, 1191-92 (4th Cir. 1990)). But, Mr. Llyod's defense counsel had even more 

indications that Mr. Llyod had a possible insanity defense prior to allowing his client to enter his 

guilty pleas - indications having a direct bearing on Mr. Llyod's insanity defense, and thus, 

having a direct bearing on whether Mr. Llyod was actually even legally responsible for any 

crime charged in the Indictment. In addition to CAD Incident Report and the victim's own 
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statement, prior to allowing his client plead guilty, defense counsel also had further clear 

indications that his client was an addict who was under the influence of the potent psychoactive 

substance known as bath salts at the time of the crime and couldn't remember everything, and 

that Mr. Llyod was also bipolar. [A.R. p. 176 (lines 5-7); p.190 (lines 14-16); p. 218 (lines 3

23); p. 220 (line 16) - p. 221 (Iine2)]. Moreover, even though during the plea hearing 

immediately after Mr. Llyod informed the Court that he was under the influence of bath salts at 

the time of the crime and couldn't remember everything the Court specifically asked defense 

counsel if Mr. Llyod had any affirmative defenses, no light bulb shining a light on Mr. Llyod's 

insanity defense went off in the defense attorney's mind. [A.R. p. 150 (lines 1-18; p. 187 (lines 

13-20]. 

Despite all these clear indications indicating that Mr. Llyod may not have been sane at 

the time of the crime, Mr. Llyod's defense counsel conducted no investigation at all, gave Mr. 

Llyod no advice regarding an insanity defense, did not formally raise an insanity defense, and 

allowed Mr. Llyod to plead guilty in complete ignorance of his possible insanity defense. And 

the evidence is clear that defense counsel's failures in this regard were not for any strategic 

purpose, but were solely because Mr. Llyod seemed to defense counsel that his client was sane 

when defense counsel talked to Mr. Llyod after his client's arrest and incarceration; because 

defense counsel didn't think he needed to investigate any mental health defense for his client 

because his client wanted to plead guilty; and perhaps most significantly of all, because Mr. 

Llyod's defense attorney himself was, from the outset of Mr. Llyod's representation in the 

criminal proceeding all the way up to Mr. Lloyd's post-conviction habeas corpus omnibus 

hearing, clueless as to what an insanity defense under West Virginia law even entailed. [A.R. p. 

186 (line 10) - p. 197 line 9]. 4 (lines 4-7, lines 20- 24); p. 197 -(line 9)J. 
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Again, a lawyer may not rely on his own belief about a defendant's mental condition and 

counsel is obligated to undertake further reasonable investigation of possible mental defenses 

where there are indications that a defendant was not sane at the time of the offense. State ex rei. 

Vernatter v. Warden, supra, 528 S.E.2d 207 at 214 (citing United States v. Kaufman, 109 F.3d 

186, 190 (3rd Cir. 1997) and Becton v. Barnett, 920 F.2d 1190, 1191-92 (4th Cir. 1990)). And 

again, a guilty plea is valid only if it represents a knowing and voluntary choice among

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