IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 

NO. 16-U66 

BILLY RAY LLOYD, 


Petitioner below, Petitioner, 

v. 

DAVID BALLARD, Warden 
Mt. Olive Correctional Complex 

Defendant below, Petitioner. 

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF 

Respondent, David Ballard, Warden, Mt. Olive Correctional Complex ("the State"), by 

counsel, Sarah B. Massey, Assistant Attorney General, responds to Petitioner's Brief. This Court 

should affirm the circuit court's denial of Petitioner's habeas petition.

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Petitioner's claims must be rejected. Petitioner's trial counsel acted objectively 

reasonable in all aspects of the underlying proceedings and Petitioner has failed to articulate or 

5 The circuit court entered this Amended Order Denying Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus correcting its 
previous order incorrectly listing Marvin C. Plumley as the Respondent. (App. at 5). During the 
pendency of the habeas proceeding, Petitioner was transferred from Huttonsville Correctional Center to 
Mt. Olive Correctional Center. (/d). 
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otherwise support his position that trial counsel's actions were unreasonable, or that Petitioner 

has suffered any prejudice. First, trial counsel is not objectively unreasonable for not 

investigating or informing the Petitioner about a groundless affirmative defense or for not 

pursuing an insanity defense after the eptry of the pleas. As the case law demonstrates, voluntary 

intoxication or even drug addiction is not considered a mental disease or defect. Second, 

Petitioner cannot show that he has suffered any prejudice from trial counsel's actions. Therefore, 

the circuit court's decision must be affirmed. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

The issue raised in Petitioner's assignment of error is covered by settled law. The factual 

record is well developed in the Appendix, and the appropriate legal arguments are fully 

presented in the parties' briefs. The decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral 

argument and this case is suitable for disposition by memorandum decision. 

V. ARGUMENT 

1. Standard of review. 

This Court's review of a circuit court's findings and conclusions of a habeas corpus 

petition is three-pronged: (l) The final order and disposition is reviewed under an abuse of 

discretion standard; (2) factual findings are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard; and (3) 

questions oflaw are subject to de novo review. Syl. ~t. 1, Mathena v. Haines, 219 W. Va. 417, 

633 S.E.2d 771 (2006); Syl. Pt. 1, Franklin v. McBride, 226 W. Va. 375, 701 S.E.2d 97 (2009). 

2. Petitioner's trhll counsel was constitutionally effective. 

Petitioner alleges that his trial counsel was ineffective for a single reason: trial counsel 

failed to inform Petitioner of a possible insanity defense prior to pleading guilty or for not 

pursuing further after entry of the pleas. (Pet'r Brief at 1). As discussed below, Petitioner's 
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claim of ineffective counsel cannot satisfY either prong of the Strickland/Miller standard: 

Attorney Clark's actions were reasonable, and even assuming they were not reasonable, 

Petitioner suffered no prejudice. Therefore, Petitioner has fa,iled to carry his heavy burden, and 

is not entitled to habeas relief on this claim. 

It is well established in West Virginia that ineffective assistance of counsel claims are 
. , 

assessed under the two-prong standard articulated by the United States Supreme Court in 

Strickland v. Washington. State v. Miller, Syl. Pt.5, 194 W. Va. 3,459 S.E.2d 144 (1995) (citing 

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)). To succeed on such a claim, a petitioner must 

establish that (1) his trial counsel's "perfOlmance was deficient under an objective standard of 

reasonableness, and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional 

errors, the result would have been different." Id. "Failure to meet the burden of proof imposed by 

either part of the StricktandiMiller test is fatal to a habeas petitioner's claim." State ex rei. 

Vernatter v. Warden, W. Va. Penitentiary, 207 W. Va. 11,528 S.E.2d 207 (1999). 

The Strickland/Miller standard is demanding and not easily satisfied. See Miller, 194 W. 

Va. at 16,459 S.E. 2d at 127 ("[T]he cases in which a defendant may prevail on the ground of 

ineffective assistance of counsel are few and far between."); State ex reI. Daniel v. Legursky, 195 

W. Va. 314, 319, 465 S.E. 2d 416, 421 (1995) (ineffective assistance claims are "rarely" granted 

and only when a claim has "substantial merit"). Review of defense counsel's performance is 

"highly deferential" and begins with the strong presumption that "counsel's performance was 

reasonable and adequate." Miller, 194 W.Va. at 16,459 S.E.2d at 127. Moreover, this Court has 

stressed that there is a "wide range" of performance that qualifies as constitutionally sufficient: 

A [criminal] defendant seeking to rebut th[e] strong presumption of [counsel's] 
effectiveness bears a difficult burden because constitutionally acceptable 
performance is not defined narrowly and encompasses a 'wide range.' The test of 
ineffectiveness has little or nothing to do with what the best lawyers would have 
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done. Nor is the test even what most good lawyers would have done. We only ask 
whether a reasonable lawyer would have acted, under the circumstances, as defense 
counsel acted in the case at issue. 

Id.; see also Vernatter, 207 W. Va. at 17, 528 S.E.2d at 213 ("[T]here is a 'strong presumption 

that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance ...."') 

(quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689). 

A petitioner claiming ineffective assistance must identify the specific "acts or omissions" 

of his counsel believed to be "outside the broad range of professionally competent assistance." 

See Miller, 194 W. Va. at 17,459 S.E.2d at 128; see also State ex rei. Myers v. Painter, 213 W. 

Va. 32, 35, 576 S.E.2d 277, 280 (2002) ("The first prong of [the Strickland] test requires that a 

petitioner identify the acts or omissions of counsel that are alleged not to have been the result of 

reasonable professional judgment") (internal quotation marks omitted). The reviewing court is 

then tasked with determining, "in light of all the circumstances" but without "engaging in 

hindsight," if that conduct was so objectively unreasonable as to be constitutionally inadequate. 

Miller, 194 W. Va. at 17,459 S.E.2d at 128. Strategic choices and tactical decisions, with very 

limited exception, fall outside the scope of this inquiry and cannot form the basis of an 

ineffective assistance claim. Legursky, 195 W. Va. at 328, 465 S.E.2d at 430. 

Identifying a mere mistake by defense counsel is not enough. See e.g., Edwards v. United 

States, 256 F.2d 707, 708 (D.C. Cir. 1958) ("Mere improvident strategy, bad tactics, mistake, 

carelessness or inexperience do not ... amount to ineffective assistance of counsel, unless taken 

as a whole the trial was a mockery of justice."). As the Miller court noted, "with [the] luxury of 

time and the opportunity to focus resources on specific facts of a made record, [habeas counsel] 

inevitably will identify shortcomings in the performance of prior counsel;" however, merely 

identifying some mundane mistake does not establish ineffectiveness because "perfection is not 

the standard for ineffective assistance of counsel." Miller, 194 W. Va. at 17,459 S.E.2d at 128. 
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Only if an identified error is ';so serious that [the defense attorney] was not functioning as the 

'counsel' guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment" has the first prong of the Strickland/Miller test 

been satisfied. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. 

Assuming that defense counsel's conduct is deemed to have been objectively 

unreasonable, and thereby satisfying the first prong of Strickland/Miller, such conduct does not 

constitute ineffective assistance unless it can also be established that the conduct was so 

impactful that there is a "reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the 

result of the proceedings would have been different." Miller, 194 W. Va. at Syl. Pt. 5,459 S.E.2d 

at 117. As the United States Supreme Court explained in Strickland, "[a]n error by counsel, even 

if professionally unreasonable, does not warrant setting aside the judgment of a criminal 

proceeding if the error had no effect on the judgment." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691. 

Moreover, pursuant to Hill v. Lockhart, the Supreme Court determined that the same two

part standard applies to claims arising from the plea negotiation process and that the same 

justifications for imposing the prejudice requirement in Strickland were relevant in the context of 

guilty pleas. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 57-58 (1985). However, while the first half of the 

Strickland test remains the same for determining ineffective assistance of counsel at the plea 

negotiation stage, the court modified the prejudice standard. Id. As in Strickland, the prejudice 

standard for plea negotiations is intended to determine whether, but for counsel's constitutionally 

deficient performance, the outcome of the plea process would have been different. Jd. The 

Supreme Court went on to require that "in order to satisfy the 'prejudice' requirement, the 

defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he 

would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." Id. at 59. The Hill 

Court further stated that "Ii]n many guilty plea cases, the 'prejudice' inquiry will closely 
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resemble the inquiry engaged in by courts reviewing ineffective-assistance challenges to 

convictions obtained through a trial. For example, ... where the alleged error of counsel is a 

failure to advise the defendant of a potential affirmative defense to the crime charged, the 

resolution of the 'prejudice' inquiry will depend largely on whether the affirmative defense 

likely would have succeeded at trial." Id. 

Thus, satisfying the "prejudice prong" of Strickland/Miller requires a showing that 

counsel's deficient performance was so serious and detrimental that it "adversely [a]ffected the 

outcome in a given case[.]" SER Myers, 213 W. Va. at 36,576 S.E.2d at 281. There is no precise 

formula applicable in every case that can be used to determine if a given instance of 

constitutionally-inadequate conduct so significantly degraded the reliability of the trial, or other 

proceeding, such that the prejudice prong is satisfied. See Legursky, 195 W. Va. at 325, 465 

S.E.2d at 427 ("Assessments of prejUdice are necessarily fact-intensive determinations peculiar 

to the circumstances of each case."). However, there is no question that the burden of 

demonstrating prejudice lies with the petitioner claiming ineffective assistance. State v. Hatfield, 

169 W. Va. 191, 209, 286 S.E.2d 402, 413 (1982) ("[T]he burden is on the defendant to prove 

ineffective assistance"); see also Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693, Legursky, 195 W. Va. at 319, 465 

S.E.2d at 421. 

A. Attorney Clark's actions were not objectively unreasonable. 

Petitioner alleges that Attorney Clark's actions of not conducting an investigation with 

respect to a mental health or insanity defense and failing to discuss an insanity defense with 

Petitioner was unreasonable. Pet'r's Brief at 8. Essentially, Petitioner claims that at the time of 

the commission of these crimina1.acts, he suffered from a mental illness/defect, and that while he 
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knew what he was doing was wrong, he could not stop himself from the conduct due to his 

mental illness/defect. This claim fails. 

It has been held by several courts that a 

failure to pursue a groundless insanity defense is not ineffective 
assistance of counsel (Commonwealth v. Bernier, 359 Mass. 13, 
20-21, 267 N.E.2d 636 (1971)), and failure to pursue a marginal 
insanity defense before advising a guilty plea may not amount to 
ineffective assistance of counsel (e. g., People v. Stanworth, 11 
Cal.3d 588, 609-614, 114 Cal. Rptr. 250, 522 P.2d 1058 (1974); 
Parks v. State, 518 S.W.2d 181, 184-185 (Mo.App. 1974)), 
especially where the defendant has sufficient reasons to plead 
guilty, such as the strength of the evidence against him, fear of the 
death penalty, or a desire for a clear conscience (see, e. g., Long v. 
Brewer, 253 N.W.2d 549, 559 (Iowa 1977)). Even where, 
arguably, there may have been an insanity defense, some courts 
have held that advice to plead guilty did not render counsel's 
assistance ineffective. See Allen v. VanCantfort, 436 F.2d 625, 630 
(1st Cir.), cert. denied, 402 U.S. 1008, 91 S.Ct. 2189, 29 L.Ed.2d 
430 (1971 ) (overwhelming evidence of guilt; chance of favorable 
report from psychiatrist remote); United States v. Cassidy, 428 
F.2d 383, 384 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 400 U.S. 966, 91 S.Ct. 378, 
27 L.Ed.2d 386 (1970) (strong evidence of guilt); In re Hawley, 67 
Ca1.2d 824, 63 Cal. Rptr. 831, 433 P.2d 919 (1967) (life 
imprisonment instead of death penalty; other charge dropped). 

Osborne v. Com., 378 Mass. 104, 110, 389 N.E.2d 981, 986 (1979). Moreover, the Sixth 

Amendment does not mean that "defense attorneys have a general obligation to explore their 

clients' mental capacity in every case." United States ex rei. Rivera v. Franzen, 794 F.2d 314, 

317 (7th Cir. 1986). In fact, defense attorneys are "not require [ d] ... to pursue defenses that are 

not reasonably suggested by the apparent factual circumstances surrounding the crime charged or 

the subsequent demeanor and conduct of the client." Id. 

Petitioner wholly focuses his argument that he would have been successful raising an 

insanity defense because while he knew what he was doing was wrong, he could not conform his 

conduct to the requirements of the law. However, Petitioner must first establish that he in fact 

18 




has a mental disease or defect. In State v. Grimm, this Court recommended the adoption of the 

insanity defense from the Model Penal Code Section 4.01. State v. Grimm, 156 W. Va. 615, 

628-29,195 S.E.2d 637,645 (1973) overruled on other grounds by State v. Nuckolls, 166 W. Va. 

259,273 S.E.2d 87 (1980). The Grimm Court further quoted the Model Penal Code's definition 

of the insanity defense: 

(1) A person is not responsible for criminal conduct if at the time 
of such conduct as a result of mental disease or defect he lacks 
substantial capacity either to appreciate the criminality 
(wrongfulness) of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the 
requirements of law. 

(2) As used in this Article, the terms "mental disease or defect" do 
not inc1ude an abnormality manifested only by repeated 
criminal or otherwise antisocial conduct. 

Id. Since Grimm, this Court has continually reaffirmed its adoption of Section 4.01 of the Model 

Penal Code as its test for insanity in West Virginia. See State v. Myers, 159 W. Va. 353,359-60, 

222 S.E.2d 300,305 (1976) overruled on other grounds by State v. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657,461 

S.E.2d 163 (1995). See also State v. Massey, 178 W. Va. 427,433,359 S.E.2d 865, 871 (1987) 

("[O]ur cases have never accepted a definition of mental disease or defect which is tied to an 

impairment of 'behavior controls.' We have traditionally used the test for insanity as contained 

in Syllabus Point 2, in part, of State v. Myers, 159 W. Va. 353, 222 S.E.2d 300 (1976): When a 

defendant in a criminal case raises the issue of insanity, the test of his responsibility for his act is 

whether, at the time of the commission of the act, it was the result of a mental disease or defect 

causing the accused to lack the capacity either to appreciate the wrongfulness of his act or to 

conform his act to the requirements of the law .... " State v. Nuckolls, 166 W. Va. 259, 273 S.E.2d 

87 (1980)."). 
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Petitioner seemingly argues that he had a mental disease or defect that was either bipolar 

disorder or drug addiction to bath salts, but Petitioner gives no analysis regarding bipolar 

disorder. As such, Respondent will focus on Petitioner's claim that he was "too high" on bath 

salts. It is clear from the language of this Court that the second clause of Section 4.01 of the 

Model Penal Code explicitly states that "the terms 'mental disease or defect' do not include an 

abnormality manifested only by repeated criminal or otherwise anti-social conduct." Pursuant to 

this explicit language, other courts utilizing the Model Penal Code definition of the insanity 

defense have stated that "we wish to make it absolutely clear that mere recidivism or narcotics 

addiction will not of themselves justify acquittal under the American Law Institute standards ... 

" United States v. Freeman, 357 F.2d 606,625 (2d Cir. 1966). 

Furthermore, courts have widely held that "the great weight of legal authority clearly 

supports the view that evidence of mere narcotics addiction, standing alone and without other

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